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IN THE MATTER OF; BEFORE THE MARYLAND
_ STATE COLLECTION AGENCY
JOHNSON & JOHNSON FINANCIAL " "LICENSING BOARD IN ’I‘HE '
SERVICES, LLC, OIFICE OF THE
; COMMISSIONER OF FINANCIAL -
WASSERMAN, SAUL & ASSOCIATES, REGULATION
lINC., -
TIFFTANY CARTER,
Case No.: CFR-FY?2014-0083
TIFFANY JOHNSON, a/l/a
KATHERINE JOHNSON,
and
WALTER POINT
Respondents.

SUMMARY ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST
AND ORDER TO PRODUCE

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Maryland Collection Agency Llcensmg Act ( “MCALA i
Business Regulﬂtmns Article (“BR”), § 7-101 ef seq., Annotated Code of Maryland, the State
Collection. Agency Licensing Board in the Office of ﬂiebommissioner of Rinangial Regulation
(hereinafter, the “Agency”) is responsible for licensing and tegulating pers.on_s engaged in
collection agency activities in the State of Maryland (the “State”), and for otherwise enforcing
the provisions of MCALA and of the Maryland Consumer Debt Collecltion Act (“MCDCA”), at
Commetcial Law Artiole (“CL”), § 14-201 et seq., Annotated Code of Maryland; and 7

WHEREAS, the Agency finds grounds to allege that Johnson & Johnson Financial
Services, LLC, Wasserman, Saul & Associates, Inc.,, Tiffany Carter, Tiffany Johnson, a/k/a,

Katherine Johnson, and Walter Point (collectively, “Respondents™) have engaged in acts or




violations of MCALA and MCDCA; and the Agency finds that action under Financial.
Institutions Article (“FI”), § 2-115, Annotated Code of Maryland, is appropriate,

NOW, THEREFORE, the Agency has determined, for the reasons set forth below, that it
is in the public interest that the Respondents immediately CRASE AND DESIST from engaging,
directly or indirectly, in the business of collecting consumer claims from Maryland residents, and
from otherwise engaging in the cbll;aotion agency business in the State of Maryland.

1. BR. § 7-101 provides, in pait, the following definitions:

(b) Board.- “Board” means the State Collection Agency Licensing Board.
(c) Collection agency.~ “Collection agency” means a person who engages
directly or indirectly in the business of;
(1
(1) collecting for, or soliciting firom another, a consumer claim; or
(i1) collesting a consumer claim. the person owns, if the claim was
in default when the person acquired it; '
) # % %
(d) Commissioner.- “Commissioner” mesns the Commissioner of
Financial Regulation,
(¢) Consumer claim.- “Consumer claim” means a claim that:
(1) is for rmoney owed or seid to be owed by a resident of the State;
and
(2) arises from a transaction in which, for a family, household, or
personal purposs, the resident sought or got oredit, money, personal
property, real property, or services.
(f) License~ “License” means a license issued by the Board to do
business as a coliection agency,
(g) Licensed collection agency.~ *“Licensed collection agency” means a
person who 1s licensed by the Board to do business as a collection
agency,

2 Pursuant to BR § 7-201, “[t]here is.a State Collection Agency Licensing Board in
the Office of the Commissioner of Financial Regulation in the Department [of Labor, Licensing,
and Regula}tion].” Further, BR § 7-203 provides that, “[tjhe Commissioner is chairman of the

Board.”




3, BR § 7-308 provides, in relevant part, as follows:

(a) In general- Subject to the hearing provisions of § 7-309 of this
subtitle, the Board may reptimand a licensee or suspend ot revoke a
license if the licensee or any owner, director, officer, member, partner, or
“agent of the licensee:
*# %

(3) in connection with the collection of any consumer claim:
(i) commits any fraud; or
(i) engages in any illegal or dishonest activities;
(4) knowingly or negligently violates the Maryland Consumer Debt

Collection Act;
%

(b) Multiple lcenses.- If the Board finds that a ground for suspeusion or
revocation of a license applies to more than 1 place of business that the
Hcensee operates, the Board may act against:
(1) each Jcense of the Heensee;
4, BR § 7-401(a) provides that, “except as otherwise provided in this itle, a person
may not knowingly and willfully do business as a collection agency in the State unless the person

has a Heense.”

5. Pusyant to Md. Code Ann,, Com. Law (“CL»), § 14-202(8) of the Maryland
Consumer Debt Collection Act (“MCDCA™), at CL § 14-201 ef seq, “liln collecting or
 attermpting to collect an alleged debt,” a debt collector (or “collector”) may not “[c]laim, attempt,
“or threaten to enforce a right with knowledge that the right does not exist.”

6. The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (‘FDCPA”), at 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.,
provides, in relevant part, as follows:

§ 1692e. False or misleading representations
A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or inisleading
representation or means in copnection with the collection of any debt.
Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the following
conduct is a violation of this section:
(2) The false representation of--

(A) the chatacter, amount, or legal statug of any debt; or




(5) The threat to take any aclion that cannot legally be taken or that is

not intended to be taken, .
' dodok

(10) The use of any false ropresentation or deceptive means fo collect or
atfempt to collect anmy debt or to obtain information concomning a
consuiner, '

§ 16924, Unfair practices

A debt collector may not use unfair or unconscionable means to collect

or attempt to collect any debt. Without limiting the general application of

the fotegoing, the following conduct is a violation of this section:

(1) The collection of any amount (including any interest, fee, charge, or

expense incidental to the principal obligation) unless such amount is

expregsly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by

" law,
7. Persons engaged in. unlicensed collection activities involving Maryland consumers

are in violation of BR § 7-401(a) of MCALA (“except as otherwise provided in this title, a
petson may not knowingly and willfully do business as a collection agency in the State unless the
person has a license”). Engaging in unlicensed collection activities is also a violation of CL §
14-202(8) of the MCDCA. (“[iln collecting or attempting to collect an alleged debt,” a collector
may not “[c]laim, attempt, or threaten to enfotce a right with knowledge that the right does not
exist”). Unlicensed collection activities also violate various provisions of the KDCPA: they
 constitute false or misleading representations, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692(e)(2) (false
representations about the “character, amonnt, or legal status of any debt), (€)(5) (“[tlhe threat to
take any acfion that cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be té,lcen”), and (e)(10)
(“[the use of any false representation ot deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any

debt”); and they constitute unfair or uncongcionable means to collect or attempt to collect a debt,

in violation of 15 U.8.C. § 1692(H(1) (the collection of any amount that is not permitted by law).




3. Pursuent to BR § 7-205 of MCALA, as a result of a hearing, or of providing an
opportunity for a hearing, the Agency may issue an order 1'equirin;g petsons to cease and desist
from engaging in.co]lection-related violations of the law, may issue a monetary pénalty, and may
requite persons to take affirmative action to cotrect the violations, including providing restitution
to all aggrieved consumers. Additionally, porsuant to Md. Code Ann., Fin, Tast. (“FI”), § 2-
115(b), as a result of a hearing, ot of providing the opporfunity to request a hearing, fhe
Commissioner of Financial Regulation (the “Commissioner”) may, in addition to any other
authorized actions taken by the Agency, enter a final order to cease and desist, suspend or re;roke
any collection agency; Jicenses, impose a civil penalty up to $1,000 for a first violation of
MCALA, the MCDCA, or of the FDCPA (as violations of MCALA), issne a penalty of up to

“$5,000 for each subsequent violation, or may take any combination of the aforementioned actions
against violators,

6, - Pursuant to BT § 11-204, “[ulnless a person is licensed by the Commissionet, the
pei'son may not: (1) [mlake & loan; or (2) [ijn any wa‘—y use any advantage provided by the
Maryland Consuraer Loan Law.”

7. Parsuant to CL § 12-302, a “person rmay not engage in the business of making
joans under this subtitle unless the person is licensed under or is exempt from the licensing
requirements of Title 11, Subtitle 2 of the Financial Institutions Article, Annotated Code of
Ma:y_land, known as- the Maryland Consumer Loan Law — Licensing Provisions.”

8. Pussuant to CL § 12-301(c), a “lender” “means a person who makes a loan under
[ Title 12, Subtitle 3 of the Commercial Law Article].”

9, Pursuant to CI, § 12-301(e), a “loan” “means any loan. ot advance of money or

credit made under [Title 12, Subtitle 3 of the Commercial Law Article],”




10.  Pumsuant to CL § 12-303, “fa] lender may not make a loan under this subtitle
unless the foan is in an original amount or value which does not exceed $6,000,”
11, CL § 12-306 specifies the maximum interest rates which a lender is permitted to
charge on a loan under Title 12, Subtitle 3 of the Commercial Law Axticle, Section 12-
306(a)(6)(1) provides as follows: “For any loan with an original principal balance of $2,000 or
less, 2,75 percent interest per month on that part of the unpaid balance not mote than $1,000 and
2. percent fnterest per month on that part of the unpaid principal balance that is more than
$1,000,” This section, therefore, permits a lender to charge a maximum annval interest rate of 33
percent on unpaid principal balances up to $1,000, and 24 percent on 1mpaid principal balances
over $1,000. Section 12-306(a)(6)(ii) provides: “For any loan with an original principﬁi balance
of more than $2,000, the maximum rate of interest is 2 percent per month on the unpaid principal
balance of the loan.” This section only permits a lender fo charge a maximum annual interest
rate of 24 percent on the unpaid principal balance of the loan.
12,  Interest on unpaid loan balances, refinanced Joans, and computation of interest are
discussed in CL §§ 12-306(b) through (d), respectively, which stafe the following:
(b) Interest on balance uhpaid after original maturity date—
If any prificipal balance remains unpaid 6 months after the loan matores
as originally scheduled or deferred, the lender may not contract for,
charge, or receive interest at a yate exceeding 6 percent simple intetest
per annum on the actyal unpaid principal balances from time to time.
(¢) Refinanced loan. — H the lender refinances a Joan in the ordinary
course of business, he may not add to the principal balance or deduct
from the proceeds of the new loan more than 60 days’ interest then due.
(&) Computation of interest. —
(1) The lender shall compute interest on the actual unpaid principal
balances outstanding from time to time, and he may not contract for,
charge, or teceive intetest in advance or compounded interest.
(2) Yor each day on which an unpaid principal balance is outstanding,

the lender may charge on that unpaid balance 1/30th of the interest
permiited under this subitle to be charged for 1 month.




13.  Pursuant to CL § 12-313(a)(1), a lender may not “{d]irectly or indirectly contract
for, chaige, or recei-ve any interest, discount, fee, fine, commission, charge, brokerage, or other
consideration in excess of that permitted by this subtitle.”

14.  CL § 12-314 provides, in relevant part, as follows:

(a) Prohibited. — A person may ot lend $6,000 or less if the person
directly or indirectly contracts for, chatges, or receives a groater rate of
interest, charge, discount, or 6ther consideration than that authorized by
the laws of this State.

(b} Loans unenforceable; exceptions. —

(1) A loah made in the amount of $6,000 or less, whether or not the
loan is or purports to be made under this subtitle, is vnenforceable if a
rate of interest, chatge, discount or other consideration greater than
that authorized by the laws of this Stafe is coniracted for by any
person unless the excess rate contracted for is the result of a clerical
error or mistake and the person correots the etror or mistake before
any pament is received nnder the loan,

{2) The person who is neither a licensee nor exempt from licensing
may not teceive or retain any principal, inferest, or other
compensation with respect to any loan that is unenforceable under this
subsection,

15. ' Pursuant to CL § 12-315, the provisions of Title 12, Subtitle 3 “shall be
interpteted and construed to effecinate its general remedial purp os;za,”
f 16,  TI§§ 2-114(a) aind (b) set forth the Commissioner’s genesal aufhority to order the
production of information, as well ag doouments and records, while investigating potentiai
violations of laws, regulations, rules, and orders over which the Commissioner has jurisdiction —
which is in addition to the Comumissioner’s specific investigatory authority set forth in various
other Maryland statntes and regulations. Thus, for example, FI § 2-114(a)(2) provides that the

Commissioner may “[rlequire ... a person to file a statement in writing, undey oath or otherwise

as the Commissioner determines, as to all the facts and circumstances concerning the matter to be




investigated,” Further, pursuant to FI § ‘2-1 14(b), “the Comr;ﬁAssioner or an officer designated by
the Commissioner may,” among other things, “take evidence, and require the production of
books, papers, cotrespondence, memoranda, and agreements, or other documents or records
which the Commissioner considets relevant or material to the inquiry.”

17.  BI§§ 2-115(a) and (b) set foxth the Commissionet’s authority fo issue summmary
cease and desist orders, and to take additional actions for violations of laws, regulations, rules,
and orders ovet which the Commissioner has jurisdiction, in addition to taking any othet action
permitted by law, and subject to a hearing or waivér of hearing, providing as follows:

(&) Swmmary cease and desist orders When the Commissioner
determines that a petson has engaged in an act or practice constituting a
violation of a law, regulation, rule or order over which the Commissionet
has jurisdiction, and that immediate action against the person is in the
public interest, the Commissioner may in the Commissioner’s discretion
issue, without a prior hearing, a suminary order directing the petson to
cease and desist from engaging in the activity, provided that the summary
ceage and desist order gives the persoun:
(1) Notice of the opportunity for a hearing before the Commissioner
* {0 determine whether the summary cease and desist order should be
vacated, modified, or entered as final; and
(2) Notice that the summary coase and desist order will be enteied as
final if the person does not request a hearing within 15 days of receipt
of the summary cease and desist order.
(b) Other authorized actions for violations.- When the Commlssmnel
deterimines after notice and a bearing, unless the right to notice and a
hearing is waived, that a person has engaged in an act or practice
constituting a violation of a law, regulation, tule or order over which the
Commissioner has jurisdiction, the Commissioner may in the
Commissioner's discretion and in addition to taking any other action
authorized by law:
(1) Issue a final cease and desist order against the person;
(2) Sugpend or revoke the license of the petson;
(3) Issue a penalty order against the person imposing a civil penalty up
to the maximum amount of $1,000 for a first violation and a
maxirnum amount of $5,000 for each subsequent violation; or
(4) Take any combination of the actions specified in this subsection.




18.  The Agency issued an Ad’vismy Notice dated July 20, 2009, which notified all
collection agencies licensed to conduct business in Maryland that it was a violation of Matyland
law for them to pursue colloction actions ageinst Maryland residents for loans that were made by
unlicensed entities, and that it was a violation of Maryland law for them to collect on loans that
exceeded permissible interest rate caps, This noﬁce was alsc; made availabie to the general

public on the Agency’s websitc at: hipy//www.dlir.state.md.ug/fvance/advisories/advisory?.

09a.shtml,

19.  Respondent Johnson & Johnson Financiel Services, LLC is a registered business
entity in the state of Florida, Respondent Jolnson & Johmson Financial Services, LLC, however,
has never been licensed as a collection agency in Maryland. |

20.  Respondent Tiffany Johnson, a/k/a Katherine Johnson, owns, menages, directs,
operates, supervises, and/or oversees the business activitics of Respondent Johnson & Johnson
Financial Services, LLC.

21.  Respondent Tiffany Caﬁcr owns, manégcs, directs, operates, supervises, and/or
oversees the business activities of Respondent Wasscrman, Saul & Associates, Inc,

22, Respondent Waller Point owns, manages, dirccts, operates, supervises, and/ot
oversces the business activities of Respondent Johnson & Johnson Pinancial Services, LLC.
Purthermore, Respondent Point owns, manages, directs, operates, supervises, and/or oversees the
business activities of Respondent Wasserman, Saul & Assaciates, Inc.

23, In March 2014, the Agency began an investigation into Respondents’ collection

practices after receiving a complaint from a Maryland consumer, o

who alleged that Respondents were in violation of MCALA and MCDCA,




24,  Respandents alleged that Consumer A had five outstanding payday loaus.
Respondents informed Consumer A that if she did not make payments on these loans, she could
be taken to court or arrested. Consm:_ner A snbsequently made two payments totaling $565.00 to
Respondents.

25. In March 2014, the Agéncy maﬂed the Resi;ondents a letter, via first ola;s mail
and certified mail, which stated that in order to legally collect on consumer debts in the State of
Maryland, Respondents needed to be licensed.

26. Respbndents jgnored the mailings fiom the Agency, and, therefore, knowingly
attempted to collect consumer debts from a Maryland resides;lt without first obtaining a license.

27. By attempting to collect money from Consumer A, Respondents violated various
State and federal laws, inc-lu_ding, but not limited to, the following: the MCDCA, includiqg CL§
14-202 (by claiming, attempting, or threatening to enforce a right with hlowlédge that the right
does not exist); the FDCPA, including both 15 U.S.C. § 1692e (by making false or misleading
representations, based on conduet which involved making false representations about the
character, amount, or legal status of any debt, and conduct which involved threatening to take
any action that cannot legally be taken or that is not infended to be taken), and 15 U.8.C. § 1692f
(by engaging in unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to co]leét any debt, based
on conduct which involved collecting any amount noi: expressly authorized by the agreement or
permitted by law); and MCALA, including both BR § 7-3 (}8(a)(3)(ii) (by engaging in any illegal
or dishonest activities in connection with the collection 01I° a copsumer claim, namely the above-
referenced violations of the MCDCA. and the FDCPA), and BR § 7-308(2)(3)(iii) (by knowingly .

ot negligently violating the MCDCA in connection with the collection of a consumer claim).

10




28. By engaging in unlicensed collection activities in Maryland without Bc'mg duly
+ Heensed by the Agency, Respondents engaged in unlicensed collection agency activities in
violation of BR § 7-401 of MCALA. Further, such unlicensed activities violated CL § 14-202(8)

of the MCDCA, as well as 15 ULS,C. §§ 1692(e)(2),(5),(10) and 1692(f)(1) of the FDCPA.

WHERFEFORE, having determined that immediate action is in the public inferest, and
pursuant to the aforementioned provisions of the Annotated Code of Maryland, it is, by

Commissioner of Financial Regulation on behalf of the Agency, HEREBY

ORDERED that Respondents shall immediately CEASE AND DESIST from engaging
in any collection activities involving M%ryland consumers; and it ig further

ORDERED that all Respondents shall immediately CEASE AND DESIST fiom
engaging, directly or indirectly, in the business of collecting consumer claims from Maryland
residents, and from otilexw;fisa engaging in the collection agenoy business in the State of
Maryland; and it is further |

ORDERED that Respondents shall immediately CEASE AND DESIST from violating
the aforementioned laws governing debt collection activities; and that Respondents should be
assessed statutory monetary penalties for aIl such violations; and it is further

ORDERLED that all provisions of this Summary Otder to Ceaée and Desist and Order to
Produee (“Summary Order”), including all Orders and Notices set forth herein, also apply to all
" unnamed owners, paxtners; members, officers, employees, and agents of all Respondent business

entities named above; and it is further

11




ORDERED that the Resident Agents for all Respondent business entities named above

shall provide a copy of this Summarty Order to all unnamed owners, partners, members, officers,

employees and agents of those Respondent business entities; and it is further

ORDERED that, pursuant to the Commissioner’s authorily under FI §§ 2-114,

Respondent shall provide to the Agency within 15 days of the receipt of this Summaty Ordet to

Cease and Desist and Order to Produce (hereinafter “Summary Order”) the following:

o a detailed st of all Maryland consumers against whom Respondents have pursued
collections. Respondents shall include all of the following 1nf01mahon for each such
debt on which Respondents pursued collections:

the name of the Maryland consumer;,

the consuymer’s phone number(s), home address, and e-mail address;

The natne of the original creditor from whom the consumer obtained the loan;
the date that the agreement between the consumer and the lender was formed,
the date the funds wers disbursed, and the date that initial payment was due;

the original principal amount of the loaty '

the fees or interest payments that the consumer was required to make on the
loan;

the total annual interest 1ate on the loan;

the APR on the loan;

the number of times that the loan wag refinanced, extended, or otherwise
modified, and the resulting new fees, inferest payroents, or other new torms;

the loan nutuber of the original loan, and the loan numbers for any subsequent”
refinancing, extension, or modification of that loan;

the date that Respondents began collecting on the consumer’s loan;

the date of Respondents’ most recent attempt to collect on the loan;

the results of Respondents’ collection activities on the loan;

the total amount of all money paid by the consumer on the original loan and on
any refinancing, extension, or other modification of that loan, including any
principal, interest, late fees, or any other money paid by the consumer; to the
lender, to Respondents, or ta any other patty (including to other debt collectors
or to any other creditors);

the total amount of money which the consumer paid divectly to Respondents, or
which the consumer paid dircotly to the lender or to any other third party as a
result of Respondent’s collection activities;

12




— the total amount of compensation which Respondents received from any source
for collecting on the loan and on any refinancing, extension, or other
modification of that loan; and

— indicate whether.the lender, Respondents, or any other party has ever submifted
any negative or adverse information concerning the loan to anhy consumer
reporting agency.

s acopy of all letters and other correspondences which Respondents sent to each of the
Maryland consumers identified above;

¢ acopy of the loan agreements between the Maryland consumers and the lenders for
each debt described gbove; and

¢ 2 copy of any and all written documents, including but not limited to confracts,

agreements, and other correspondences, between Respondents and third party lenders

or creditors which desoribe of specify the amount and method by which Respondents

" were fo be compensated for collecting on the loans involving Maryland consumers
described above.

FURTHERMORE,

RESPONDENTS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that, pursuant to ¥I § 2-115, 8G § 10-
226(c)(2), and BR § 7-309, Respondents are entitled to a hearing before the Agency to determine
whether this Summary Osder should be vacated, modified, or entered as a Final Order of the
Agency; and further,

RESPONDENTS ABE HEREBY NOTIFIED that, pursuant to FI § 2".115’ SG § 10-
226(c)(2), and BR § 7-309, this Summary Order will be entered as a Final Order of the Agency if
Respondents do not request a hearing within 15 days of the receipt of this Summary Order; and
further,

RESPONDENTS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that, pursuant to Code of Maryland
Regulatio.ns (“COMAR”) § 09.01.02.08, and State Government Article (“SG”) §§ 10-206.1 and
10-207, and in accordance with SG § 10-207(b)(4), each individual Respondent in this matter is

only permitted to request a heating, and to appear at such heating, on behalf of himself, or

13




through an alforney authorized to practice law in Maryland at the Respondant’s own expense;
aﬁd further,

RESPONDENTS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that, pursuant to SG § 10-206.1, and in
accordance \x;ith SG § 10-207(b)(4), business entities arc only permitted fo request a hearing, and
fo appear at such hearing, through an attorney anthorized to practice law in Maryland at the
Respondent’s own expense; and frther,

RESPONDENTS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that any and all requests for a hearing in
this matter must conform fo fhe requirements stated above, must be made in the form of a signed,
written request, and must be submitted to the following address:

Administrator, State Collection Agency Licensing Board
Office of the Cotmnmissioner of Financial Regulation
500 North Calvert Streef, Suite 402
Baltimore, Maryland 21202;
and further,
RESPONDENTS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that, pursuant to BR § 7205, the
~ Agency may issue an order requiring all Respondents to cease and desist from engaging in these
violations and any further similar violations, may issue a monetary penalty, and may require
Responden;rs to take affirmative action to cotrect the violations, includiné providing restitution to
. any agprieved consumers. Additionally, pursuant to FI § 2-115(b), as a result of a hearing, or of
Respondents’ failure to timely request a hearing in the manner desctibed above, the Agency,
may, in addition to taking any other action authotized by law, enter an Order making this

Summary Ordet final, impose 4 civil penalty against all Respondents up to $1,000 for each

violation of MCALA and of the MCDCA, issue a penalty up to $5,000.00 for each subsequent

14




violation of these acts, or may take any combination of the aforementioned actions against

Respondents,
MARYLAND STATE COLLECTION
AGENCY LICENSING BOARD IN THE
OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER OF
FINANCIAL REGULATION
g\g\\zoxi By: M\:j\“\ N
Date . Keisha Whitehall Wolfe

Acting Deputy Commissioner of Financial Regplation

For Gordon Cooley
Acting Commnissioner of Financial Regulation
Chairperson, State Collection Agency Licensing Board
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